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[bookmark: _u32ay2dpitvh]Introduction with Request for Relief
Westmoor Military Institute (hereinafter “Westmoor” or “Defendant”) is a university. Dr. Louise Shepard (hereinafter “Plaintiff”), a former assistant professor at Westmoor, alleges that she was retaliated against by Westmoor after engaging in protected activity on January 9, 2023. Shepard subsequently obtained a Right to Sue letter from the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and filed a Complaint in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida against Westmoor for violating Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3). 
Plaintiff’s suit should be dismissed. Plaintiff fails to establish a prima facie case that Westmoor cultivated a hostile work environment in retaliation to Plaintiff’s statements alleging discriminatory practices. Additionally, Westmoor’s exercise of reasonable care to promptly correct harassing behavior, as well as Plaintiff unreasonably failing to take advantage of any preventative or corrective opportunities provided by Westmoor entitle Westmoor to the Faragher-Ellerth defense to a hostile work environment claim.
WHEREFORE, Defendant, Westmoor Military Institute, respectfully moves this Court, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56, to rule in their favor and grant the summary judgment motion. 
[bookmark: _xx0r0gj6evng]Statement of Facts
Westmoor is a military university that was founded in 1831. Case File 024. Louise Shepard is a thirty-eight year old teacher. Id. at 019. In 2022, Mark Riley, the Chair of the Philosophy department at Westmoor, hired Louise as an Instructor in the Philosophy department at Westmoor to teach entry level classes. Id. at 044, 046. 
When Louise started at Westmoor, she participated in orientation by Human Resources, during which she was informed of the human resources library, including Westmoor’s Anti-Discrimination and Harassment Policy. Id. at 021, 072-75. 
Since Mark was impressed with Louise during her interview, he assigned her to teach an additional upper-level class that was not in her job description. Id. at 047. However, over three semesters, she received many negative student course evaluations. Id. at 076. Students “found it hard to ask questions during class because [they] worried they’d be shot down,” and stated that she was “intimidating” and "favored students who seemed to share her views on social issues.” Id. As time went on, students felt like “they aren’t actually learning,” and “every lecture feels like a battle,” and “Dr. Shepherd is constantly looking for a fight.” Id. at 077-78. 
Mark spoke with Louise about the negative feedback after her first semester. When she expressed interest in teaching another upper-level course, he told her that she needed more experience. Id. at 026. He gave the course to another professor with a lighter course load. Id. at 053. The next spring, following more negative course evaluations, Mark gave her other upper-level course to a more tenured professor. Id. at 057. 
Louise did little to ingratiate herself with the other faculty. She stayed holed up in her office for the first month. Id. at 022. When she met other faculty, she introduced herself “abrasively.” Id. at 047. On January 9, 2023, at a staff meeting with the entire faculty in attendance, Louise presented a proposal for a seminar on “Ethical Reasoning in Military Conflict,” during which she stopped her presentation in the middle to lecture the faculty about how she felt Westmoor treated women. Id. at 027-28. All of this led to Louise not being invited to a few social outings outside of the workplace. Id. at 054, 056. 
The one time that Louise reported an incident of discrimination to Mark, he immediately addressed the behavior with the perpetrator. Id. at 055. 
In the Spring of 2023, the Philosophy department building underwent renovations. Id. at 056-57. Mark randomly assigned faculty to new offices in other buildings. Id. 
[bookmark: _tgq9893yc1wm]Argument 
Plaintiff alleges that she was “subjected to a retaliatory hostile work environment because Plaintiff engaged in a protected activity by opposing gender discrimination in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3.” Case File 007. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a) makes it unlawful for 

“an employer to discriminate against any of his employees… because he has opposed any practice made an unlawful employment practice by this subchapter.” 

The Eleventh Circuit has defined retaliatory-hostile-environment claims as “retaliation claims under § 2000e-3(a) - rather than … ‘hostile-environment’ claims.” Babb v. Sec'y, Dep't of Veterans Affs., 992 F.3d 1193, 1207 (11th Cir. 2021) (citing Monaghan v. Worldpay US, Inc., 955 F.3d 855 (11th Cir. 2020)). Thus, Plaintiff's suit should be treated as a retaliation claim rather than a hostile work environment claim. 
Regardless of whether Plaintiff alleges retaliation in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3 or hostile work environment in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2, her claim should be dismissed. Plaintiff’s retaliation allegations fail to establish a prima facie case by failing to prove that she suffered materially adverse employment actions, and by failing to establish but-for causation for retaliation. Plaintiff’s hostile work environment allegations similarly fail because Westmoor is entitled to an affirmative Faragher-Ellerth defense. 
[bookmark: _swsszrb6eah7]I.   The plaintiff fails to present a prima facie case of retaliation. 
The Fourteenth Circuit has adopted the Eleventh Circuit’s standard for evaluating whether a plaintiff has established a prima facie case of retaliatory hostile work environment. Therefore, “[t]o establish a prima facie case under Title VII, the plaintiff must prove that she (1) engaged in statutorily protected activity; (2) suffered a materially adverse employment action; and (3) there was a causal link between the two.” Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1566 (11th Cir. 1997) (per curiam).
Here, the statements that Shepard made at the meeting on January 9, 2023 qualify as protective activity within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3. Stipulation 9, Case File 003. However, Plaintiff still fails to prove that she suffered any materially adverse employment action. Plaintiff also fails to establish any but-for cause of retaliation. Because Plaintiff fails to establish those two required elements of a retaliation claim, Plaintiff fails to present a prima facie case of retaliation. 
[bookmark: _y07syf3bged9]A.      Plaintiff fails to prove that she suffered materially adverse employment action.
To be a materially adverse employment action, the employer’s action “must be harmful to the point that they could well dissuade a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimination.” Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 57 (2006). It has further emphasized the importance of separating significant and trivial harms. “An employee's decision to report discriminatory behavior cannot immunize that employee from those petty slights or minor annoyances that often take place at work and that all employees experience.” Id. at 68. 
The Eleventh Circuit has never held that occasional comments made by coworkers or managers amount to significant harm. Instead, the court has found that statements from a supervisor “which threatened both termination and possible physical harm - ‘well might have dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimination.’” Monaghan, 955 F.3d at 860 (citing Burlington N. 548 U.S. at 70-72); see also Harris v. Pub. Health Tr. of Miami-Dade Cnty, 82 F.4th 1296, 1305 (11th Cir. 2023) (holding that an isolated slur was not “as severe as the remarks that courts have found created hostile environments”); compare with Smelter v. S. Home Care Servs, Inc., 904 F.3d 1276, 1282 (11th Cir. 2018) (holding that plaintiff enduring racist remarks by her coworkers every day, including use of the n-word, would dissuade a reasonable worker from reporting discrimination). 
While actions taken outside of the workplace may be materially adverse employment actions, they also have to be of “similarly significant standing alone.” Monaghan, 955 F.3d at 860. The court has specified that “[a] supervisor's refusal to invite an employee to lunch is normally trivial, a nonactionable petty slight. But to retaliate by excluding an employee from a weekly training lunch that contributes significantly to the employee's professional advancement might well deter a reasonable employee from complaining about discrimination.” Burlington N., 548 U.S. at 69. 
While the Eleventh Circuit has not ruled on whether office relocation constitutes a materially adverse employment action, the majority of circuits have held that it does not. See Unal v. Los Alamos Pub. Sch., 638 F. App’x 729, 742 (10th Cir. 2016); Roncallo v. Sikorsky Aircraft, 447 Fed.Appx. 243, 245–46 (2d Cir. 2011) (“[A] temporary move... does not constitute a materially adverse employment action.”). In cases where courts have held that office relocation was an adverse action, the relocation interfered with the plaintiff’s ability to complete their employment duties. See e.g. Chuang v. Univ. of Cal. Davis, Bd. of Tr., 225 F.3d 1115, 1125 (9th Cir. 2000) (holding that “the relocation of [plaintiffs'] laboratory…unquestionably qualifies as an adverse employment action” because the relocation caused the plaintiffs to lose grants). 
The majority of materially adverse employment actions involve “things that affect continued employment or pay—things like terminations, demotions, suspensions without pay, and pay raises or cuts.” Monaghan, 955 F.3d at 860. The Eleventh Circuit has held that “‘a change in work assignments, without any tangible harm’ is outside the protection of Title VII's anti-discrimination clause, ‘especially where ... the work assignment at issue is only by definition temporary and does not affect the employee's permanent job title or classification.’” Hyde v. K.B. Home, Inc., 355 F. App'x 266, 269 (11th Cir. 2009) (quoting Davis v. Town of Lake Park, Fla., 245 F.3d 1232 (11th Cir. 2001)). See e.g. Nichols v. Volunteers of Am., N. Alabama, Inc., 470 F. App'x 757, 759 (11th Cir. 2012) (finding that a materially adverse action occurred when the plaintiff was demoted “from house manager II to house manager I and reduced her pay”); Brown v. Wrigley Mfg. Co., 2023 WL 2386500, *8 (11th Cir. 2023) (discussing denial of promotion as a materially adverse employment action). 
None of the actions that Plaintiff alleges Westmoor took meet the standard of a materially adverse employment action. The statements that Plaintiff alleges her coworkers and manager made all constitute “petty slights or minor annoyances that often take place at work and that all employees experience” Burlington N., 548 U.S. at 68. Unlike in Monaghan, Plaintiff was never threatened with termination or any violence. Like in Harris and unlike in Smelter, the comments that Plaintiff experienced were isolated. Even Mark Riley’s statements referring to Plaintiff as a “little lady” and mentioning that Plaintiff was operating outside of “her command structure” constitute petty slights. Because Plaintiff only experienced minor annoyances that often take place at work, the comments made to Plaintiff do not constitute a materially adverse employment action. 
Similarly, Plaintiff’s alleged exclusions from non-work social events are not materially adverse employment actions. Neither Mark Riley’s Thanksgiving dinner, nor the golf weekend mid-2023, nor Professor Carr’s Memorial Day BBQ were frequently recurring events that “contribute[d] significantly to the employee's professional advancement.” Burlington N. 548 U.S. at 69. Each of the events happened at most once per year. Even if Plaintiff felt as if she was being excluded, she fails to present evidence that there were any tangible effects on her employment. Because Plaintiff fails to show that her professional advancement was affected by a lack of invite to these events, they do not constitute materially adverse employment action. 
Plaintiff’s office relocation was also not a materially adverse employment action. Like in Unal, Plaintiff did not offer any evidence that the office relocation interfered with her employment or duties. Like in Roncallo, Plaintiff’s office relocation was temporary. And unlike in Chuang, Plaintiff’s office relocation did not cause the plaintiff to lose funds. Because the facts in the immediate case resembles cases far more where office relocations have not been determined to be materially adverse employment actions than cases where they have, Plaintiff’s office relocation does not qualify as a materially adverse employment action. 
Lastly, Plaintiff’s class assignments were not materially adverse employment actions. Plaintiff alleges that not being selected to teach an upper-level course in the fall of 2023, and that a tenured faculty member taking over her upper-level course in the spring of 2024 were adverse employment actions. However, neither of those actions affected Plaintiff’s job title or classification, as required by Hyde. Unlike in Nichols, Plaintiff’s pay was not reduced as an effect of not teaching either upper-level class, and her job title was not amended. In fact, the job description that Plaintiff was hired for, only included two introductory courses, no upper-level courses. Case File 047. Unlike in Brown, teaching the upper level classes would not have constituted a promotion. Because Plaintiff’s job description, title, and pay never changed as a result of not teaching upper-level courses, her courses were not materially adverse employment actions. 
Because none of the alleged statements made by Plaintiff’s coworkers and manager, the alleged lack of invitations to non-work social outings, Plaintiff’s office relocation, or Plaintiff’s class assignments were significant and not trivial harms, Plaintiff fails to prove that she suffered materially adverse employment action. 
[bookmark: _xvnr86ljgrcq]B.        Plaintiff fails to establish but-for causation between her protected activity and any employment action. 
To establish but-for causation, Plaintiff must establish that but for her protected activity during the faculty meeting on January 9, 2023, any subsequent materially adverse employment actions would not have occurred. The Supreme Court has held that Title VII retaliation claims “must be proved according to traditional principles of but-for causation… This requires proof that the unlawful retaliation would not have occurred in the absence of the alleged wrongful actions or actions of the employer.” Univ. of Tex. Sw. Med. Ctr. v. Nassar, 570 U.S. 338, 360 (2013). 
If a defendant can show that an employment action would have been taken even if the plaintiff had not engaged in the protected activity, there is no but-for causation. Yelling v. St. Vincent's Health Sys., 82 F.4th 1329, 1339 (11th Cir. 2023) (“‘If there are multiple but-for causes, the removal of any one would change the outcome. Each would be a “necessary condition for the outcome,’ Restatement (Third) of Torts: Phys. & Emot. Harm § 26 cmt. b (Am. L. Inst. 2010).”); see also Nichols, 470 F. App'x at 764 (holding that causation failed because the plaintiff “failed to rebut the nondiscriminatory reasons” for her employment actions). 
Additionally, the court has continuously held that “[I]n the absence of other evidence tending to show causation, if there is a substantial delay between the protected expression and the adverse action, the complaint of retaliation fails as a matter of law.” Thomas v. Cooper Lighting, Inc., 506 F.3d 1361, 1364 (11th Cir. 2007) (holding that “[a] three to four month disparity between the statutorily protected expression and the adverse employment action is not enough.”). See Buckley v. Sec'y of Army, 97 F.4th 784, 97 F.4th 784, 798-99 (11th. Cir. 2024) (holding that seven months was “far too long to allow for the inference that retaliation infected the decision-making process”).
Here, like in Yelling and Nichols, the plaintiff fails to show that the alleged employment actions taken by Westmoor would not have occurred without her protected activity. 
With regards to comments made to Plaintiff, Plaintiff fails to show that the comments changed after engaging in the protected activity. Mark introduces Plaintiff as “little lady” both before and after the protected activity. Case File 047, 055. Plaintiff also provides examples of the same types of comments about her teaching style from coworkers before and after the protected activity. While Mark did remark that “Louise would bring combat boots to a poetry reading” at the Memorial Day barbeque in 2023, Plaintiff fails to show that those comments were not related to her course evaluations which had similar comments (“Her approach felt a bit intense, like a drill sergeant at boot camp.” Id. at 076.). Plaintiff fails to show that any commentary made by employees at Westmoor was directly related to her protected activity. 
Similarly, Plaintiff fails to show that there were no alternate reasons for not being invited to social events. Plaintiff herself admits that she “holed up” in her office for the first month that she worked at Westmoor, and did not socialize with anyone. Id. at 022. Additionally, none of the social events that Plaintiff was not invited to were open to the rest of the faculty. Professor Carr’s invited only “faculty members that he’s known for years” as well as his close friends to his Memorial Day barbeque. Id. at 054. Mark’s Thanksgiving dinner was similarly limited to “a few faculty members that [Mark] kn[ew] well and respect[ed].” Id. at 056. Plaintiff fails to show that her not being invited to social events was an effect of her protected activity. 
With regards to Plaintiff’s office relocation, Mark explains that he “just assigned everyone randomly.” Id. at 057. Additionally, other faculty were also moved to the less desirable office building; Plaintiff was not singled out. Because Mark provided a reasonable explanation for the office assignments, Plaintiff fails to show but-for cause for that action as well. 
Plaintiff ignores an obvious explanation for the decision to not assign her an additional upper-level class in fall 2023, and to reassign the upper-level class that she had been teaching to a more tenured professor. Plaintiff’s course evaluations for her classes showed that many students did not appreciate her teaching style. Id. at 076-78 (“People seemed hesitant to speak freely… I feel like anything I say will be judged… Some students have stopped going to class because they say they aren’t actually learning… Every lecture feels like a battle.”). Mark spoke with Plaintiff about her teaching style, but it did not improve. Id. at 048-49. Additionally, Mark noted that the instructor who took over one of the upper-level classes had more room in his schedule than Plaintiff did, and the other instructor was tenured and had significant seniority. Id. at 053, 057. Plaintiff’s course assignments can readily be explained by her poor work performance and other logistics, therefore severing but-for causation.  
Because alternate explanations are readily available for every employment action that Plaintiff alleges, Plaintiff fails to establish but-for causation between her protected activity and any employment action. 
Additionally, mere temporal proximity is not enough to establish but-for causation. Like in Thomas, the “disparity between the statutorily protected expression and the adverse employment action is not enough.” Thomas, 506 F.3d at 1364. Here, like in Thomas, every alleged employment action took place more than three months after Plaintiff’s protected activity. Like in Buckley, the majority of alleged employment actions took place more than seven months after the protected activity. Since Plaintiff could establish no other source of but-for causation, mere temporal proximity is not enough. 
Plaintiff’s claim therefore fails to establish but-for causation between her protected activity and alleged employment actions. 
Because Plaintiff fails to prove that she suffered materially adverse employment action, and fails to establish but-for causation between her protected activity and alleged employment actions, Plaintiff fails to present a prima facie case of hostile work environment retaliation. 
[bookmark: _n2lrnd2ysnmk]II.   Westmoor is shielded from liability under the Faragher-Ellerth defense. 
Pursuant to Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775, 807-08 (1998) and Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth, 524 U.S. 742, 764-65 (1998), an employer avoids liability for hostile work environment claims if it can establish that it “(1) exercised reasonable care to prevent and correct promptly any sexually harassing behavior, and (2) the plaintiff unreasonably failed to take advantage of any preventive or corrective opportunities [the employer] provided.” 
The Faragher-Ellerth defense is not available to employers when the employee has suffered a “tangible employment action.” Baldwin v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield, 480 F.3d 1287, 1303 (11th Cir. 2007); see Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775, 807-08 (1998); see also Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth, 524 U.S. 742, 764-65 (1998). However, as demonstrated previously, the plaintiff did not suffer any materially adverse employment action in this case. Thus, the Westmoor Military Institute is entitled to Faragher-Ellerth defense. 
A. [bookmark: _z9q64ncmelhl]Westmoor exercised reasonable care to prevent and promptly correct the harassing behavior. 

	In satisfying the first prong of the Faragher-Ellerth defense, an employer must show that it exercised reasonable care to (a) “prevent” and (b) subsequently “correct promptly” any harassing behavior. See Faragher, 524 U.S. at 807; see also Ellerth, 524 U.S. at 764. 
First, to determine whether an employer has exercised reasonable care to prevent harassing behavior in the workplace, the Eleventh Circuit has considered “whether an anti-harassment policy that strictly prohibits discrimination and harassment was ‘effectively disseminated.’” Gonzalez v. Spitzer Autoworld Homestead, Inc., 672 F. Supp. 3d 1252, 1281 (S.D. Fla. 2023) (citing Madray v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc., 208 F.3d 1290, 1297-98 (11th Cir. 2000) (“[T]he Supreme Court [in Faragher and Ellerth] implied that employers could meet the initial burden in determining whether they had exercised reasonable care to prevent sexual harassment by promulgating an anti-harassment policy.”)). Additionally, the Eleventh Circuit has held that employers exercised reasonable care to prevent harassment where its “anti-harassment policy provide[d] an alternative channel for making complaints other than to the harassing supervisor.” Walton v. Johnson & Johnson Servs., 347 F.3d 1272, 1287 (11th Cir. 2003). In fact, these exact policies and procedures satisfy the “minimum requirements for the Faragher affirmative defense.” Madray v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc., 208 F.3d at 1299 (emphasis added). 
	Right before she began teaching, Ms. Shepard attended a mandatory day-long training session led by the Westmoor Human Resources Department. As required by Gonzalez, the Westmoor Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policy was properly “disseminated” because Ms. Shepard received a complete and comprehensive review of the policies and procedures of the school and also gained access to the human resources library where she could read and analyze the policy on her own. Given that Ms. Shepard followed this policy exactly as written on January 3, 2024 and reported her grievances to the Westmoor Human Resources Reporting account, as opposed to reporting to the “offending supervisor or through the supervisor’s chain of command,” any claim that Westmoor did not “effectively disseminate” this policy and did not exercise reasonable care to satisfy the “minimum requirements” to prevent harassing behavior under the Faragher-Ellerth defense is meritless. Madray, 208 F.3d at 1299.
	Second, in determining whether an employer exercised reasonable care to correct the alleged harassment, the Eleventh Circuit simply requires an “investigation that is reasonable given the circumstances.” Baldwin v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield, 480 F.3d 1287, 1303 (11th Cir. 2007). However, court in Baldwin held that, there is “nothing in the Faragher or Ellerth decisions requiring a company to conduct a full-blown, due process, trial-type proceeding in response to complaints of sexual harassment.” Id. at 1304. Again, the court emphasized the “minimum standard” for the Faragher-Ellerth defense, holding that an investigation, whether conducted “informally” or “by the head of the company's Human Resources Department” satisfies this requirement. Id.
	Mr. Tucker conducted a formal, thorough, and unbiased investigation in accordance with the requirements enumerated in Baldwin. As part of his investigation, Mr. Tucker reviewed internal email communications between the parties, office assignment logs, analyzed the 2023 and 2024 philosophy department course schedule assignments, the 2022 and 2023 annual evaluation of Ms. Shepard, and the 2022 and 2023 student evaluations from Ms. Shepard’s courses. In addition to interviewing Ms. Shepard and Mr. Riley, Mr. Tucker also interviewed Ms. Montgomery as part of his investigation, a professor who was arguably Ms. Shepard’s closest companion at Westmoor. As deemed sufficient under Baldwin, Mr. Tucker’s findings regarding Ms. Shepard’s gender discrimination claims were subsequently analyzed and reviewed by the Director of Human Resources at Westmoor, a neutral female who has no connection to the complaint whatsoever. Not once did Ms. Shepard express her concerns about Mr. Tucker’s ability to conduct an unbiased investigation or request for another member of the Human Resources Department to conduct the investigation. In fact, Ms. Shepard herself agreed that Mr. Tucker was a neutral investigator. Therefore, Mr. Tucker’s investigation far surpasses the “minimum standard” required by the Faragher-Ellerth defense and shows that Westmoor exercised reasonable care to promptly correct the allegedly harassing behavior. 
B. The plaintiff unreasonably failed to take advantage of any preventative or corrective opportunities provided by the employer or to otherwise avoid harm. 

	To satisfy the second prong of the Faragher-Ellerth defense, the employer must establish that the “plaintiff employee unreasonably failed to take advantage of any preventive or corrective opportunities provided by the employer or to avoid harm otherwise.” Faragher, 524 U.S. at 807; Ellerth, 524 U.S. at 765. This failure on behalf of the plaintiff can take two forms: (1) “not using the procedures in place to promptly report any harassment” or (2) “not taking advantage of any reasonable corrective measures the employer offers after the harassment is reported.” Baldwin, 480 F.3d at 1306. Either failure is “sufficient to establish the second element of the defense,” and both are present in this case. Id. 
First, claims that are reported over “two and a half months after the first incidents of harassment [are] too long for Faragher-Ellerth purposes.” Id. at 1307. Specifically, this delay in reporting is “unreasonable as a matter of law.” Green v. Mobis Alabama, LLC, 995 F.Supp. 2d 1285, 1302 (M.D. Ala. 2014). In fact, “the Eleventh Circuit has stated that ‘subjective fears of reprisal do not excuse an employee’s failure promptly to report sexual harassment.” Id. (citing Walton, 347 F.3d at 1290-91). If this were allowed, the court reasoned that all employees could argue they refused to file a report “for fear of losing [their] job or damaging [their] career prospects.” Id. (citing Baldwin, 480 F.3d at 1307). As such, a delay in reporting is only acceptable in “extreme cases.” Baldwin, 480 F.3d at 1307.
Second, the Eleventh Circuit has held that a plaintiff refusing to “take advantage of [a] counseling option, a reasonable corrective measure,” is “by itself enough” to establish the second element of the Faragher-Ellerth defense. Id. at 1306. When an allegation of harassment is substantiated, several circuit courts around the country have held that “warnings and counseling of the harasser are enough” to constitute a proper remedy. Id. at 1305-06; see Fleming v. Boeing Co., 120 F.3d 242, 246-47 (11th Cir. 1997) (talking to the harasser and telling the complainant to report any further problems was, as an initial measure, enough to constitute “immediate and appropriate corrective action”); accord Gawley v. Ind. Univ., 276 F.3d 301, 306-07, 311-12 (7th Cir. 2001) (issuance of “counseling memorandum” to the harasser was sufficient). Most importantly, the Eleventh Circuit has held that the “complainant does not get to choose the remedy.” Id.; see Farley v. Am. Cast Iron Pipe Co., 115 F.3d 1548 1555 (11th Cir. 1997). 
In the case at bar, Ms. Shepard has alleged that she began suffering gender based discrimination almost immediately after she began her position at Westmoor during the Fall 2022 semester. Ms. Shepard also alleges that she asserted her right to engage in the lawful opposition of employment practices at Westmoor following the faculty meeting on January 9, 2023, and thus began experiencing an allegedly hostile work environment on January 9, 2023. Given that Ms. Shepard filed her complaint on January 3, 2024, and lacks any “extreme” circumstances that warrant this delay, she is well past the requirement that she report her harassment “two and a half months after the first incidents.” Baldwin, 480 F.3d at 1307. Accordingly, her complaint is “unreasonable as a matter of law” and the second element of the Faragher-Ellerth defense is satisfied. Green, 995 F.Supp. 2d at 1302. 
Additionally, as in Baldwin, Ms. Shepard chose not to take advantage of the opportunity to participate in a mediation session with Mr. Riley which would be “facilitated by a neutral mediator with the goal of addressing any ongoing concerns and improving communication moving forward.” Case File 096. Westmoor’s offer to have a mediation session to improve Ms. Shepard’s communication with Mr. Riley, despite her unsubstantiated claims, was a reasonable and adequate remedy. See, e.g., Baldwin, 480 F.3d at 1306. Because plaintiffs do “not get to choose the remedy,” Ms. Shepard’s refusal to take advantage of this neutral mediation also satisfies the second element of the Faragher-Ellerth defense. Id. 
[bookmark: _9nczv4rmoajg]Conclusion with Prayer for Relief 
Plaintiff’s suit should be dismissed. Plaintiff fails to establish a prima facie case that Westmoor cultivated a hostile work environment in retaliation to Shepard’s statements alleging discriminatory practices. Additionally, Westmoor is entitled to the Faragher-Ellerth defense to a hostile work environment claim.
WHEREFORE, Defendant, Westmoor Military Institute, respectfully moves this Court, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56, to rule in their favor and grant the summary judgment motion.	
Respectfully Submitted,
/s/  Team O                  
Attorneys for the Defendant
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